RECEIVED

SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSH30-2012

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff- Respondent

VS.

Appeal No. 2011AP450-CR

Case No. 2009CF002823

JULIUS C. BURTON, Defendant- Appellant-Petitioner

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT I, FOLLOWING APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HON. PATRICIA D. MCMAHON, PRESIDING, AND THE HON. KEVIN E. MARTENS, PRESIDING IN POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS

Esther Cohen Lee Attorney for Defendant- Appellant-Petitioner State Bar No. 1002354

Hall, Burce and Olson, S.C. 759 N. Milwaukee St., #410 Milwaukee, WI 53202

Tel. No. (414) 273-2001

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Q. Did defense counsel's failure to advise the defendant that he had the right to a bifurcated trial in which he could plead guilty to the crimes and still have a jury trial to determine whether he was not responsible by reason of mental disease or defect constitute ineffective assistance of counsel? Did the Circuit Court's denial of the defendant's postconviction motion to withdraw his plea of guilty on that ground, without ordering a hearing, constitute an abuse of its discretion?
 - A. a. The Circuit Court of Milwaukee County answered no.
 - b. The Court of Appeals, District I, answered no.
- 2. Q. Since the Circuit Court failed to advise the defendant that he had the right to plead guilty to the crimes charged and still have a jury trial to determine whether he was not responsible by reason of mental disease or defect, had the defendant's plea of guilty not been knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily made and was the defendant entitled to have his plea of guilty withdrawn?
 - A. a. The Circuit Court of Milwaukee County answered no.
 - b. The Court of Appeals, District I, answered no.

STATEMENT OF ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The defendant-appellant-petitioner requests that oral arguments be held in this matter and that the opinion in this matter be published. It appears that the issues raised in this matter are issues of first impression in the State of Wisconsin. The issues involve whether defense counsel and the trial court had a duty to advise the defendant, who had entered a plea of not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect, that he could plead guilty to the crimes charged and still have the right to a jury trial, under the bifurcated procedures set forth by statute, to determine whether he should not be held responsible for his conduct by reason of mental disease or defect.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the two convictions of the defendant-appellant-petitioner, Julius C. Burton, on February 25, 2010, in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, the Hon. Patricia D. McMahon, presiding, for Attempted Intentional Homicide in the first degree, with the use of a dangerous weapon, and the denial, on February 14, 2011, of the defendant's postconviction motion in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, Kevin E. Martens, presiding.

PROCEDURAL FACTS

1. This criminal action commenced with the filing of a Criminal Complaint in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County on June 11, 2009, charging the defendant with two counts of Attempted Intentional Homicide in the first degree with the use of a dangerous weapon, contrary to Wis. Stats. §940.01(1)(a), §939.50(3)(a), §939.32, and §939.63(1)(b), Class B felonies. (Record 2, pp. 1-4; Appendix, pp. A11- A14). The shootings of two Milwaukee police officers in this case took place on June 9, 2009.

2. The defendant appeared in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County on June 11, 2009 for an initial appearance. At that time, a competency examination was ordered by the Court. (R.39, pp.1-6). On June 26, 2009, Attorneys Julius Kim and Jonathan LaVoy were retained to represent the defendant. (R.40, pp. 1-7). On July 23, 2009, a report was filed by Dr. Luchetta, finding the defendant competent to proceed. (R.41, pp. 1-5). Defense counsel did not object to that finding.

3. On July 31, 2009, a preliminary hearing was held, at which Officer Bryan Norberg and Officer Graham Kunisch, the two officers who had been shot in this incident, as well as Officer Cory Harris and Detective Christopher Blaszak testified. (R.42, pp. 1-48; App.

pp. A15-A52). The Court found probable cause to believe that felonies had been committed by the defendant and bound the case over for trial. Following the hearing, an Information was filed, charging the same charges as in the Criminal Complaint. (R.3, p. 1; App. p. A53).

4. On August 27, 2009, defense counsel indicated that it was going to enter a plea of not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect. The Court ordered an examination of the defendant by Dr. Kenneth Smail to determine whether there was sufficient evidence to support such a plea. (R.43, pp. 1-6; pp. A54-A55). On October 12, 2009, Dr. Smail filed a report with the Court, finding that there was not sufficient evidence to support such a plea. (R.33, pp. 175-185; App. pp. A207- A217). The defense retained Dr. Diane Lytton to prepare a report as to whether there was sufficient evidence to support such a plea. She prepared a report, dated December 12, 2009, finding that there was more than sufficient evidence to support a plea of not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect. (R.33, pp. 186- 215; App. pp. A218- A247).

5.. On January 21, 2010, the defendant appeared in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, the Hon. Patricia D. McMahon, presiding, for a plea hearing. (R.46, pp. 1-27; App. pp. A56- A78). The State was represented by Mark Williams, Assistant District Attorney of Milwaukee County. The defendant was represented by Mr. LaVoy and Mr. Kim. At that time, an offer was made to the defendant that if he pled guilty to the two counts of the Information, the State would recommend that he receive fifty years of incarceration with no recommendation as to the length of the extended supervision.

6. Defense counsel indicated that it would abandon the defendant's plea of not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect and that the defendant would enter a plea of guilty to the two Counts of the Information. The defendant signed a plea questionnaire and waiver of rights form, which again indicated that the offer made by the State. (R.15, pp. 1-3; App. pp. A82- A84).

The defendant entered a plea of guilty to the two Counts of the Indictment and the Court accepted his plea.

7. On February 25, 2010, the defendant appeared before the Hon. Patricia D. McMahon for sentencing. (R.47, pp. 1-74; App. pp. A85- A157). The State recommended that the defendant be sentenced to fifty years of initial confinement and made no recommendation as to the length of the extended supervision. The Court refused to accept that recommendation and sentenced the defendant to forty years of initial confinement on each of the two charges, with the two sentences to run consecutively. It also sentenced him to ten years of extended supervision on each count to run consecutively. (R.47, p. 72; App. p. A156). A Judgment of Conviction was then filed. (R.22, pp. 1-2; App. pp. A9-A10).

8. On March 3, 2010, a Notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief was filed on behalf of the defendant. (R.23, pp. 1-2; App. pp. A158- A159). On April 28, 2010, Esther Cohen Lee was assigned as counsel to represent the defendant on appeal. After several motions were filed for extensions, which were granted by the Court, a postconviction motion was filed on January 12, 2011 in the Circuit Court. (R.31, pp. 1-25; App. pp. A160-A184).

9. On February 14, 2011, the Hon. Kevin E. Martens, Circuit Court Judge of Milwaukee County, who had been assigned to determine the motion, issued a Decision and Order, denying the defendant's motion to withdraw his pleas of guilty. (R.36, pp. 1-4; App. pp. A185- A188).

A Notice of Appeal, dated February 25, 2011, was filed. (R.37, pp. 1-2; App. p. A189.. On that date, Esther Cohen Lee was assigned as counsel to handle this appeal in the Court of Appeals. (R.----; App.p. A190).

 On May 20, 2011, the Appellant's Brief and Appendix was filed in the Court of Appeals, District I. The Respondent's Brief was thereafter filed. On February 14, 2012, the Court of Appeals, District I, issued a Decision, affirming the Judgment and Order. (App. pp. A1-A8).

12. On March 15, 2012, a Petition for Review was filed on behalf of the defendant in the Supreme Court of Wisconsin. On September 27, 2012, the Supreme Court issued an Order, granting the Petition for Review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE-FACTUAL

A. The Shootings of Officer Kunisch and Officer Norberg

In his testimony at the preliminary hearing on July 31, 2009, Officer Norberg said that on June 9, 2009, he and Officer Kunisch were on routine patrol in their squad car in the area of Bradley Tech High School . (R.42, p. 11; App. p. A18). At 3:30 p.m., they were traveling east on W. National Aveune. They were both wearing their police clothes and badges and wearing their duty belts with their handguns. Kunisch was driving while Norberg sat in the passenger seat. (R.42, p. 12; App. p. A19).

As they drove along the street, Norberg said he saw a black male riding a bicycle on the sidewalk, which was contrary to a city ordinance. The officers decided to stop him and conduct a field interview of him. As they drove near him, Norberg yelled to him to stop and the man turned and looked at him. Norberg identified the defendant as being that man. (R.42, p. 13; App. p. 20).

As the defendant continued to ride his bicycle on the sidewalk, Norberg stopped the police car and got out of the car. He followed the defendant on foot and continued to yell at him to stop, but he did not do so. When the defendant turned right on S. 2nd Street, Kunisch followed him in the car. At 819 S. 2nd Street, as Kunisch was getting out of the car, Norberg went up to the defendant and grabbed him from behind to gain control of him. Norberg took the defendant off the bicycle and grabbed him, making him face west on S. 2nd Street. (R.42, p. 15; App. p. A19). He placed both of his hands on the defendant's back and forcibly removed him from the bicycle and as he did so, the defendant said, "Don't put your hands on me, why are you touching me?" (R.42, p. 22; App. p. A29).

While Norberg was holding the defendant from behind him, Kunisch got out of the car and approached them, standing to the defendant's left side. (R.42, p. 22; p. A29). Norberg got control of the defendant's left arm and he and Kunisch were trying to gain control of him to perform a pat-down search of him. The defendant was resisting their attempt to gain control of him and was flailing his arms and moving his feet. (R.42, pp. 24-25; App. pp. A31- A32). As Norberg was holding the defendant's left arm, he said, the defendant took out a pistol and shot him in the face. The pistol was only six inches from his face, he said. (R.42, p. 16; App. p. A23). Norberg fell to the ground and as he lay on the ground, he heard more gunshots. Norberg said that he never had the chance to withdraw his firearm. (R.42, p. 17; App. p. A24).

At the preliminary hearing, Officer Kunisch reiterated the events that Norberg had testified to, adding that when he first told the defendant to stop, he appeared to pull something away from his head, which could have been headphones. (R.42, p. 40; App. p. A47). He said that as the defendant was struggling with Norberg, he moved up to them and tried to take control of the defendant. After that, he said, he heard two gunshots and fell to the ground. (R.42, pp. 30-31; App. pp. A37- A38).

Detective Christopher Blaszek testified that a videotape of the incident had been obtained from a security camera on the building at 819 S. 2nd Street. He said that it showed that the person who had done the shooting was the defendant. He said that it showed that as both officers were falling to the ground, the defendant continued to shoot at them. At no time, he said, had the officers ever drawn their weapons. (R.42, pp. 43-45; App. pp. A50-A52).

Norberg said that he had been shot several times and that the first bullet had gone through his lip, under his left nostril and then through and into his teeth, exiting out of his face. He also had a bullet wound to his shoulder and a wound to his left knee. (R.42, p. 18; App. p. A25).

Kunisch said that he had been shot in his left hand, which had torn the bone connected to his index finger to his hand. He also received a wound to his right shoulder and to the back of his neck. His most serious wound was to his face and skull, which destroyed his left eye and caused severe damage to the left side of his skull. (R.42. pp. 31- 32; App. pp. A38- A39).

B. The Lifelong History of Mental Illness of the Defendant

Unbeknownst to the officers when they decided to stop the man who was riding his bicycle on the sidewalk, they were about to approach a man who was very seriously mentally ill, and who, just a few weeks before this incident, had been held for observation in a psychiatric hospital because he had had homicidal and assaultive ideations and had been hearing voices telling him to hurt someone.

The medical records show that the defendant's first admission to a mental health facility was when he was only nine years old, when he was admitted for dangerous behavior. On April 29, 2009, just a few weeks before this incident, the defendant was taken to a mental health facility because he was hearing voices telling him to hurt someone. The notes indicated that he was paranoid and hostile, depressed, anxious and having difficulty sleeping. Under "Violence Risk Factors", it states: "homicidal/ assaultive ideation, homicidal/ assaultive plan, violence severe stressor, paranoid." It stated that when he was asked who he wanted to hurt, he said, "no particular target, can't say what's bothering him." (R.33, pp. 147-150; App. pp. A191-A194)..

He was discharged the next day, at his insistence, and told to take Risperdal and go to the Acacia Clinic. He was seen by a therapist there on May 11 and June 4, 2009. In their notes, the Clinic said he reported hearing voices and had daily thoughts of harming people. They noted

that he said he was taking his meds, and seemed less angry. (R.33, pp. 159-162). However, his family stated that he had not been taking his meds.

C. The Arrest of the Defendant and the Taking of his Statement

After the two officers had been shot, the defendant was arrested at 922 S. 3rd Street. The police found him hiding in the basement. (R.33, p. 139). When the police yelled into the basement for him to come out, he came out with his hands up. He was placed on the ground and handcuffed. Upon being searched, the police found the magazine of a gun in left pants pocket. The officers asked him where the gun was and he told them it was in a box in the basement, which is where the police found it. (R.33, pp.142-143).

After the defendant had been taken into custody, the police began questioning him at 6:15 p.m. The police reports indicate that the defendant told them he was riding the bicycle of Charles Johnson and was returning it to him. He said he only had the gun a couple days and that it was tucked inside his pants. He said he was riding on the sidewalk and listening to his Ipod when the police approached him and told him to stop. He said they grabbed him and pulled him off of the bicycle. When he asked the officers, "What did I do?", he tried to run away and officers grabbed one of his arms. He said he struggled with the officers because he did not feel he had done anything wrong. (R.33, p. 133).

When they began to pat him down, he said, he was afraid they would find the gun and that then they would shoot him. He said he pulled away and began running. He said he had taken the gun out and was going to toss it away but that the officers chased him with their guns drawn. Then, he said, he pulled the gun over his left shoulder and fired at them to scare them and to make them stop chasing him. (R.33, p. 133).

However, the police report failed to mention that throughout the first ten minutes of the interview, when his Miranda rights were being read to him, the defendant was experiencing hallucinations. In her report, Dr. Diane Lyntton noted that she had watched the interview on videotape and that during those first ten minutes, he was crying continually. He was also telling the officers that there was a man in the room who wanted to hurt him and he repeatedly begged them to make him go away. When the officers explained that there was no man in the room, the defendant insisted that he was there and that he would talk to them if only they would make him go away. (R.33, pp. 210-211; App. pp. A242- A243).

That report was consistent with the report of Dr. Luchetta who had found the defendant to be competent. She stated that the jail records showed that he complained in the jail that he was having visual and auditory hallucinations, and believed there was a man in his cell who wanted to hurt him. (R.33, p. 167; App. p. A211). She said that he was having paranoid ideations where he said he was scared of everyone. He was prescribed Haldol at the jail, a very strong antipsychotic drug. (R.33, p. 180; App. p. A213).

D. The Reports of the Doctors as to the Evidence that Supported a Plea of Not Guilty by Reason of Mental Disease or Defect

Dr. Smail, the Court appointed psychologist, filed a report on October 12, 2009. He had interviewed the defendant once, on October 5, 2009. (R.33, p. 176; App. p. A208). He noted that the defendant received SSI due to mental illness. He said that when he interviewed the defendant at the jail, he had been taking Haldol for several months to control the voices that he had been hearing. (R.33, p. 183; app. p. A215).

The defendant told him, he said, that he had gotten the gun because someone had recently put a gun in his face and he was scared that someone was trying to kill him. (R.33, p. 180; App.

p. A212). He had gotten the gun, he said, from Jacob Collins, who had bought it for him several weeks before this incident.

Dr. Smail said that the jail records noted that the defendant was diagnosed with Schizophrenia, sometimes specified as paranoia. He also noted that the records said the defendant had reported that there was someone in the cell with him, even though he was alone in his cell, and that he was hearing voices that told him to hurt himself. The jail records showed he was found by the jail staff standing on his sink, about to harm himself. He was given injections of Haldol. (R.33, p. 183; App. p. A215).

Nevertheless, Dr. Smail said that in his opinion, there was no evidence that the defendant had a diagnosis of psychosis at the time of the incident. He said that the defendant's behavior had been "fear driven" but that his behavior was not out of his control. Further, he said, the defendant knew that the shooting of the officers had been wrong, both morally and legally. For these reasons, he said, there was no evidence to support a plea of not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect. (R.33, p. 183; app. p. A215).

In her report, prepared at the request of the defense, Dr. Lytton, stated in her report of December 12, 2009, that she had examined all of the defendant's past mental health records and had interviewed his family members and his girlfriend about his bizarre and paranoid behaviors in the weeks just before this incident. She concluded that at the time of the incident, the defendant was experiencing significant "active symptoms of a psychotic disorder which significantly and substantially affected his abilities to think and act and, therefore, his ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law." (R.33, pp. 186-187; App. pp. A218-A219).

Dr. Lytton interviewed the defendant four times for many hours. She said the defendant told her he was taking Haldol at the jail to stop him from hearing voices and to stop seeing

hallucinations. He said he was afraid people were trying to harm or kill him. She noted his long history of mental illness and his history of cutting himself, which was proven by the many scars on his legs and arms. (R.33, p. 191; App. p. A223).

The defendant's mother told her that he had been having auditory and visual hallucinations since early childhood. (R.33, p. 197; App. p. A229). His sister, cousin and grandmother also suffered from a disorder that caused them to have such hallucinations. (R.33, pp. 198-199; App. pp. A230- A231). His girlfriend told her that in the weeks before this incident, the defendant had become very paranoid and was afraid that people were following him. She said he always carried a bat, screw driver or knife with him. She said he refused to take his meds due to their side effects. On the night before this incident, he had become angry and hit her, she said, and she left the house that night. (R.33, pp. 200-210; App. pp. A232-A233)..

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