RECEIVED

12-03-2012

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN SUPREME COUR PF WISCONSIN

No. 2011AP450-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JULIUS C. BURTON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, AFFIRMING THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE PATRICIA D. MCMAHON AND THE HONORABLE KEVIN E. MARTENS, **PRESIDING**

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN **Attorney General**

SALLY L. WELLMAN **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1013419

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

In Burton's case, the prosecutor entered the plea agreement to make a global sentence recommendation of fifty years of initial confinement with no recommendation on extended supervision, in exchange for Burton's straight plea of guilty to two counts of attempted first-degree intentional homicide while armed with a dangerous weapon because the two seriously injured police officers and their families wanted closure and did not want to have to go through the trauma of a trial (47:9-10). Allowing Burton to plead guilty to the offenses and have a jury trial on the insanity defense would not have served the victims' goal of avoiding a trial. It would not have served the goal of closure, because if Burton did successfully present an insanity defense, the case would be subject to repeat rehearings on whether Burton had improved and should be released from commitment. The trial court could reasonably have considered the impact on the victims in evaluating whether such a plea is in the public interest.

Burton's apparent goal in pleading guilty to the underlying offenses and having a jury trial only on insanity would be to attempt to limit the State's proof of the underlying offenses. This could compromise the State's ability to provide sufficient facts to ensure that the jury reached the most accurate result on the insanity

question. This could be detrimental if the defendant told his expert a version of the offenses that was inconsistent with the facts of the crime that the State would present at a guilty trial from witnesses to the defendant's conduct immediately before, during and after the crime. The trial court could reasonably consider these factors in evaluating whether it would be in the public interest to allow the defendant to plead guilty to the charged offenses and have a jury trial only on the insanity defense.

Burton did not have a right to plead guilty and still have a trial jury trial on the insanity defense. He had a statutory option to offer such a plea under § 971.06(1)(d). Burton had no right to require the trial court to allow him to exercise that option. Burton's guilty pleas to two counts of attempted first-degree intentional homicide while armed with a dangerous weapon and his waiver of his insanity defense were not invalid because the trial court and trial counsel did not advise him on the record during the plea colloquy about an option that he had no absolute, unilateral right to exercise.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED BURTON'S POSTCONVICTION MOTION WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

Burton's postconviction motion asserted that he was entitled to withdraw his guilty pleas to two counts of attempted first-degree intentional homicide by use of a dangerous weapon based on both a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel and a claim that the plea colloquy was defective (31). The pleading requirements sufficient to require an evidentiary hearing for each type of claim are different, although a defendant may file both claims in a single postconviction motion. *State v. Howell*, 2007 WI 75, ¶ 73, 301 Wis.2d 350, 734 N.W.2d 48.

A. The Trial Court Properly Denied Burton's Postconviction Motion Asserting Ineffective Of Assistance Counsel Without An **Evidentiary** Hearing.

The trial court did not err in failing to hold an evidentiary hearing on Burton's motion to withdraw his guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of trial counsel, which is denominated a *Nelson/Bentley* claim, referring to *Nelson v. State*, 54 Wis.2d 489, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972), and *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis.2d 303, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996).

Based on the contents of his postconviction motion, Burton was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing. A criminal defendant is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on a postconviction motion simply because he requests one. *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 10, 274 Wis.2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. To require an evidentiary hearing, the motion must allege sufficient material facts that, if true, would warrant relief. Whether a motion meets this standard is a question of law the appellate court reviews de novo. *Allen*, 274 Wis.2d 568, ¶¶ 9, 14. The defendant is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing if key allegations are merely conclusory or if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief. *Allen*, 274 Wis.2d 568, ¶¶ 9, 12, 15.

A criminal defendant asserting ineffective assistance of trial counsel must allege that his trial counsel's performance was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); State v. Koller, 2001 WI App 253, ¶ 7, 248 Wis.2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838. To prove prejudice, a postconviction motion to withdraw a guilty plea based on ineffective assistance of counsel must allege that but for counsel's

alleged errors, the defendant would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 60 (1985); *Bentley*, 201 Wis.2d at 312.

In order to meet this pleading requirement, "[a] defendant must do more than merely allege that he would have pled differently; such an allegation must be supported by objective factual assertions." *Bentley*, 201 Wis.2d at 313. The defendant must allege "facts that allow the reviewing court to meaningfully assess his or her claim" of prejudice. *Bentley*, 201 Wis.2d at 314. This means the motion must allege a specific explanation of why the defendant would not have pled guilty and would have gone to trial if trial counsel had properly advised him. *Bentley*, 201 Wis.2d at 313-17.

Burton's postconviction motion was woefully inadequate to require an evidentiary hearing. His postconviction motion did not even allege that, in fact, trial counsel never told Burton that he had the option to plead guilty to the charged offenses and have a jury trial on the affirmative defense of not responsible by reason of mental disease or defect.

Burton's postconviction motion alleged *only* that the record did not show that trial counsel had informed Burton of this option.

In this court, Burton reasserts that limited claim. He never asserts that, in fact, trial counsel did not tell him of this option. Contrary to Burton's apparent assumption, the fact that the record does not reveal all of the information trial counsel provided to Burton in regard to his plea choices does not mean that trial counsel did not advise Burton that the statute gave him the option of pleading guilty to the charged offenses and going to trial on his insanity plea.

A criminal record ordinarily does not and should not spell out all of the information that trial counsel provided to the defendant. At a guilty plea hearing, the defendant and trial counsel may choose to provide the trial court with some information about their discussions which help demonstrate the defendant's guilty plea is knowing, intelligent and voluntary. Trial counsel may do so to try to protect himself from subsequent bogus ineffective assistance of counsel claims. There is no expectation, however, that the plea hearing record would contain a detailed recital of all of the information counsel provided to the defendant, nor would it be appropriate for the record to contain such detail. The fact that the record does not contain exactly what information trial counsel provided to the defendant about all of his plea choices does not fairly give rise to the inference that trial counsel failed to provide any specific piece of information to the defendant.

Burton's motion was also fatally defective because it did not allege that, in fact, Burton did not know that he had the option to plead guilty to the charged offenses and go to trial on his insanity defense. Accordingly, the motion failed to allege the most essential, basic facts necessary to make a sufficient allegation of deficient performance to obtain an evidentiary hearing.

Burton's motion also failed to allege sufficient facts to prove prejudice because he failed to allege that if counsel had advised Burton of the option that he could plead guilty to the charged offenses and go to trial on the insanity defense, Burton would have chosen that option.

The motion did not contain objective, factual allegations setting forth a specific explanation of why Burton would not have accepted the plea agreement, pled guilty and withdrawn his insanity plea if he had been advised he had the option to plead guilty to the charged offenses and still have a jury trial on the defense of insanity.

Furthermore, the record conclusively establishes that Burton is not entitled to relief on his ineffective assistance of counsel claim. The plea hearing record makes it abundantly clear that Burton knew and understood that by entering his guilty pleas pursuant to the plea agreement, he was giving up his right to present his insanity defense, and he made this choice because he wanted the State's favorable sentence recommendation. Although the statute may provide a criminal defendant the option to plead guilty to the charged offenses and go to jury trial on the insanity plea, in order to do so in this case, Burton would have had to reject the State's plea offer. The State made the plea agreement because the two police officer victims of the crime and their families wanted to avoid a trial (47:9-11). The State obviously would not have agreed make favorable sentence recommendation if defendant went to jury trial on the insanity plea and lost, because that would not achieve the goal of avoiding a trial.

There is no reasonable probability to believe that Burton would have given up the plea agreement, which yielded him a very favorable sentence recommendation from the State, in order to plead guilty with no sentence recommendation, and take his chances that he could convince a jury to find him not responsible by reason of mental disease.⁶ Burton relies on the fact that at a jury trial on mental responsibility, he could have presented his history of mental health problems and the opinion of his retained expert (Lytton).

Burton ignores the fact that it would not have been enough for him to simply present his evidence. The State would have presented the contrary expert opinion reached by the independent, court-appointed expert (Smail), and the opinion evidence from the competency evaluator,

recommended by the State does not inform this question.

⁶ The question is whether there is a reasonable probability Burton would have made a different choice at the time he entered his guilty pleas, based on the facts that existed at that time. The fact that the trial court subsequently imposed a greater sentence than that

which was consistent with Smail's opinion and inconsistent with Lytton's opinion on relevant points. In order to succeed in obtaining a jury verdict of not responsible by reason of mental disease or defect, Burton would have had to convince the jury to a reasonable degree by the greater weight of the credible evidence that at the time he committed the crimes, he suffered a mental disease or defect (which does not include an abnormality manifested only by repeated criminal or otherwise antisocial conduct) and as a result of that mental disease or defect, he lacked the substantial capacity to either appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. Wis. Stat. § 971.15.

Although Burton could have presented a favorable expert opinion, that opinion was not persuasive. Lytton's report did not explain how Burton's paranoia caused him to be substantially unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law, even though he knew the two men he shot in the face at close range were police officers. He knew it was wrong to shoot them and he evidenced his knowledge that it was wrong by running away and hiding. Burton never claimed that when he shot the officers he heard a voice telling him to shoot them or that at the moment of the shooting he was having any visual or auditory hallucination.

The jury would have had to find the defense evaluator's opinion more persuasive and accurate than the competency evaluator's opinion on malingering and the court appointed expert's opinion that at the time of the crime, Burton did not have a mental disease or defect that caused him to lack substantial capacity to either appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct or conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. The jury might well have doubted Lytton's credibility because she was retained by the defense, she put significant weight on Burton's self-reports, and Burton admitted that he lied to the court-appointed expert when he said he had no memory of the crime.

For all of these reasons, Burton's motion was insufficiently pled and the trial court was not required to grant him an evidentiary hearing. For the same reasons, Burton has failed to demonstrate that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying an evidentiary hearing. Accordingly, this court should affirm the trial court's order denying Burton's postconviction *Nelson/Bentley* claim without an evidentiary hearing.

B. The Trial Court Properly
Denied Burton's
Postconviction Motion
Asserting A Defective Plea
Colloquy Without An
Evidentiary Hearing.

Under State v. Bangert, 131 Wis.2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986), a criminal defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on a motion to withdraw guilty plea only if he makes a prima facie showing that the trial court that accepted his guilty plea failed to comply with the statutory procedures set forth in Wis. Stat. § 971.08 or procedures mandated by this court and if he "alleges that he in fact did not know or understand the information which should have been provided at the plea hearing." Bangert, 131 Wis.2d at 274. If his motion adequately asserts both a defective plea colloquy and that he actually did not know or understand the omitted information, then the defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing at which the State would bear the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence, based on any available information including testimony of the defendant and his counsel, that notwithstanding the defective plea colloquy, his guilty plea was knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently entered. Bangert, 131 Wis.2d at 274-75.

The reviewing court must determine whether, as a matter of law, the defendant's motion sufficiently alleged that he did not know or understand the information that he claims should have been provided at the plea hearing. *Howell*, 301 Wis.2d 350, ¶ 31. A *Bangert* motion is properly denied without an evidentiary hearing if the defendant fails to allege in the motion that he did not, in fact, know or understand the information he claims the trial court should have provided during the plea colloquy. *State v. Hampton*, 2004 WI 107, ¶ 46, 274 Wis.2d 379, 683 N.W.2d 14; *State v. Giebel*, 198 Wis.2d 207, 216-17, 541 N.W.2d 815 (Ct. App. 1995).

Burton's motion was insufficient to require an evidentiary hearing because it did not allege that at the time his pleas were accepted at the plea hearing, he did not, in fact, know or understand that he had an option to enter a plea of guilty to the charged crimes and have a jury trial on the defense of lack of mental responsibility. This requirement is not a mere technicality; it is a necessary prerequisite to an evidentiary hearing. As this court explained:

[I]f the defendant is unwilling or unable to assert a lack of understanding about some aspect of the plea process, there is no point in holding a hearing. The ultimate issue to be decided at the hearing is whether the defendant's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, not whether the circuit court erred. The court's error has already been exposed. In the absence of a claim by the defendant that he lacked understanding with regard to the plea, any shortcoming in the plea colloquy is harmless.

. . . .

A *Bangert* evidentiary hearing is not a search for error; it is designed to evaluate the effect of known error on the defendant's plea so that the court can determine whether it must accept the withdrawal of the defendant's plea.

State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶¶ 63, 65, 293 Wis.2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906.⁷

Because Burton failed to allege that, in fact, he did not know or understand that he had an option to plead guilty to the charged offenses and still have a jury trial on the defense of lack of mental responsibility, his motion was insufficient to require the trial court to hold an evidentiary hearing, and denial of the motion was justified on that ground alone.

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